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Westminster chapter house, interior view looking east.

Lincoln cathedral, clerestory windows, retrochoir, detail of the south elevation
(Photo: V. Jansen)

Beauvais cathedral, choir, south aisle window
Amiens cathedral, clerestory window, north elevation of the nave

Interior or east face of the inner entrance to the chapter house, Salisbury (Photo:
National Monuments Record, AA66/825)

Details, (a) and (b): the carved ornament, interior face of the inner entrance to the
chapter house, Salisbury. J. Buckler, 1813. London, Brit. Lib. Add. MS. 36392,
fol. 84v, fig. 44 and fol. 84, fig. 43

Masonry of the south walk of the cloister, Salisbury, seventh bay, (left) and eighth
bay (right) from the east, showing gargantuan blocks of ashlar from the Old Sarum
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Cloister bosses, Salisbury (a) northeast junction bay (b) southeast junction bay

Cloister bosses, south walk, Salisbury, in sequence from southeast junction bay (a)
first bay (b) second bay (c) third bay (d) fourth bay (e) sixth bay (f') seventh bay

Foliate ornament on lintels carrying the blind arcade, eastern bay, chapter house,
Salisbury (a) grape vine (b) fig (¢) common hawthorn (d) stylized foliage

Entrance to chapter house, Southwell Minster, right, detail of the foliate ornament
on the capitals and archivolts

Foliate ornament in the chapter house, Wells (a) roof bosses, detail (b) capitals of
colonnettes flanking the entrance, detail

Roof bosses, chapter house, Salisbury (a) west bay (b) northwest bay (c) north bay
(d) northeast bay (e) east bay (f) southeast bay (g) south bay (h) southwest bay

Carved spandrels and cusps of the Purbeck marble arches forming the inner
entrance to the chapter house, Salisbury (a) left arch (b) detail of right arch

Monsters with foliate tails in the central spandrel of the arcade above the inner
entrance, chapter house, Salisbury

Dying moldings on springer, of the easternmost pier, north side of the presbytery,
Salisbury cathedral
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Eastern bay of the chapter house foyer, exterior, south elevation, showing the
masonry and oculus crowded by the adjacent thirteenth-century buttress of the
chapter house, Salisbury

Grisaille from the chapter house, Salisbury (a) panel from a lancet, Glencairn
Museum, Bryn Athyn, PA (b and ¢) drawings of remnants of the thirteenth-century
glass in the lancets and tracery of the east, south, and west windows. J. Carter,
1802. London, Brit. Lib. Add. MS 29939, pp. 81, 82 (Photo: (a) courtesy of the late
Jane Hayward)

Drawing of grisaille from the chapter house window, Westminster (Photo: after
Lethaby, 1926, fig. 44)

Thirteenth-century inlaid tiles from the chapter house, Salisbury (a and b) tiles now
set in the pavement of the eastern bay of the north side aisle, Salisbury cathedral (c)
tile with griffon set in a floriated circle (Private collection)

Bosses of the west walk, Salisbury cloister, numbered from the southwest junction
bay (a) bay one (b) bay three (c) bay ten (Photo: (a) National Monuments Record)

Drawings of the Virtues and Vices in the archivolt, foyer, or west side of the inner
entrance to the chapter house, Salisbury. J. Carter, 1802. London, Brit. Lib. Add.
MS 29939, p. 92

Drawing of the western face of the inner entrance to the chapter house, viewed from
the foyer. J. Carter, 1802. London, Brit. Lib. Add. MS 29939, p. 90

Drawing of the interior, or eastern face of the inner entrance to the chapter house,
Salisbury. J. Carter, 1802. London, Brit. Lib. Add. MS 29939, p. 86

Signs of the Evangelists surrounding Christ in Majesty on the tympanum, eastern
face of the inner entrance to the chapter house, Salisbury (a) Angel of St. Matthew
(b) Eagle of St. John (c) Lion of St. Mark (d) Ox of St. Luke

Angel of the Apocalypse with a censer, tympanum of the eastern or interior face of
the inner entrance to the chapter house, Salisbury

Remnants of thirteenth-century glass from the chapter house in the windows of the
cathedral, Salisbury (a) angels in roundels, south aisle, west window (b) angel in
roundel flanked by bishops, south aisle window, third bay from the west

Detail of the remnant of the Angel Choir screen, ca. 1265, now in the Morning
Chapel, Salisbury cathedral

Eighteenth-century drawings of the thirteenth-century angel choirs in the vaults of
the eastern transept arms, Salisbury cathedral, before their overpainting on the
orders of J. Wyatt. Pencil with color wash. J. Schnebbelie. Oxford, Bod. Lib.
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Gough Maps XXXII, fols 60, 61 (Photos: Bodleian Library)

Christ in Majesty of the Second Coming with Apostles and Evangelists in the vaults
of the eastern crossing bay, Salisbury, repainted in the nineteenth century by Mssrs
Clayton and Bell

Angel in a quatrefoil, detail of angel choir, west facade, Wells cathedral

Details of the angel choir in the triforium of the retrochoir, Lincoln cathedral (a)
angels with scroll and pipes (b) angels with scroll and book

Detail of the Judgment Porch, Lincoln cathedral, from a plaster cast made before
the restoration of the sculpture (Photo: Courtauld Institute of Art)

Drawings of the surviving statues of the west facade, Salisbury. J. Carter, 1802.
London, Brit. Lib. Add. MS. 29939, pp. 39, 40 (a) number five, St Peter with the
keys (b) number eleven, St John the Baptist; number twelve, St Paul with his
sword; number fourteen, James the Greater, in hat with a cockle shell

Bishop and king, thirteenth-century glass, removed from an oculus of a chapter
house window, now in the south aisle window, third bay from the west, Salisbury
cathedral

Detail of the west facade, Wells cathedral, showing bishops, kings, queens,
warriors etc.

Central portal, west facade, Wells cathedral (a) Virgin and Child in the tympanum
before the recent restoration (b) detail of the standing figures representing the
Virtues Triumphant in the archivolt

Coronation of the Virgin, west facade, Wells cathedral
St John with the eagle of the Apocalypse, west facade, Wells cathedral

Heraldic devices formerly in the chapter house windows and now in western
lancets of the nave, Salisbury

Thirteenth-century heraldic shields, Westminster abbey (a) shields originally set
into the grisaille of the chapter house windows (b) two of twelve shields carved in
the spandrels of blind arcades, north and south choir aisles (Photo: (a) after Lethaby
1925)

Interior view of the chapter house, Salisbury as of 1821showing heraldic devices
still in the east window. O. Cattermole, del., Le Keux, engr. (Photo: after Britton

1841)

Seven heraldic shields from the chapter house now in the lowest zone of the three
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western lancets of the nave, Salisbury cathedral (a) Gilbert of Clare (b) composite

shield (c) paternal arms of Eleanor of Provence, consort of Henry III (d) royal arms
of France (e) royal arms of England (f) Richard Earl of Cornwall, brother of Henry
IIT (g) Roger Bigod, Earl of Norfolk and Earl Marshall

Detail of drawing showing remnants of glass in the north west window of the
chapter house, Salisbury, including portions of the 'composite' shield now in
western lancets of the nave (Fig. 52b). J. Carter, 1802. London, Brit. Lib. Add. MS.
29939, p. 83

Detail of a 1610 drawing depicting eight shields formerly in windows of the chapter
house, Salisbury. London, Brit. Lib. Lansdowne MS. 847, detail, fol. 32R (Photo:
British Library)

Westminster chapter house, entrance bay and portal flanked by the Angel and
Virgin of the Annunciation (Photo: Ministry of Public Buildings and Works)

Pre-1905 view of the north bay of the Salisbury chapter house with the
nineteenth-century polychromy (Photo: courtesy of the late Canon Dawson)

Roof boss in the east bay of the Salisbury chapter house surrounded by foliate
designs repainted in the nineteenth century (Photo: R. Morris, University of
Warwick Archive)

Pre-1905 view of the northwest bay of the Salisbury chapter house

Line engraving of Salisbury cathedral from the southwest showing the bell tower to
the northwest with its original octagon and steeple. London, Society of Antiquaries,
Country Views Album, vol. VIII, 35 (Photo: Society of Antiquaries)

Remnants of the thirteenth-century central column from the chapter house stored in
the southwest junction bay of the cloister (a) base surmounted by uppermost drums
and free-standing colonnettes, capitals, abaci and springers of vaulting with iron
collar (b) view from above showing the construction of the collar (c) capitals

of paired colonnettes (Photo: (b) National Monuments Record)

Framing of roof above central column of chapter house (a) detail showing
thirteenth-century post with turned molding at the head supporting the
thirteenth-century low-pitched roof (b) thirteenth-century timbers directly below
reinforced by a modern splice

Pre-restoration drawings showing designs and disposition of patterns of inlaid tiles
in the floors of the chapter house and foyer, J. Carter, 1802. London, Brit. Lib. Add.
MS. 29939, pp. 70-72

Pre-restoration engravings (a) view of the interior of the chapter house looking
west. F. Nash, del. W. Smith, sculp., finished by J. Pye (b) Pharaoh's Dream,
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spandrel three, south bay. T. Baxter and J. LeKeux (Photos: (a) after Dodsworth
1814 (b) after Britton 1814)

Sketches of the canons' stalls with notes recording the thirteenth-century
polychromy as of 1855. Pencil and color wash. W. Burges. London, R.I.LB.A.,
Drawings Collection, Wm Burges, Sketchbook no. 64, pp. 310-11 (Photo:
R.I.LB.A))

Joseph and the seneschal riding off to Egypt (a) pre-restoration drawing of spandrel
four, southeast bay, 1854, W. Burges. London, R.I.B.A., Drawings Collection, Wm
Burges, Sketchbook no. 64, p. 89 (b) Drawing after Queen Mary's Psalter by W.
Burges. London, R.I.B.A., Drawings Collection (Photos: R.I.B.A.)

Drawing of the arcades and spandrels flanking the southeast angle of the chapter
house. Pencil with color wash, G. Scharf, 1853 (Photo: Society of Antiquaries,
London)

Pharaoh's Dream, spandrel three, south bay. Pre-restoration engraving, F. Nash,
del., G. Cooke sculp. (Photo: after Dodsworth 1814)

Two proposals for the restoration of roof, A. Salvin, del. (a) diagram showing
thirteenth-century framing of roof (b) plan for reframing of building with new
low-pitched roof (c) plan for new roof with a high pitch (d) drawing of chapter
house with proposed high-pitched roof, Trowbridge, Wilts. Salisbury Cathedral
Archives, G. G. Scott Papers, ii

Pre-restoration view of the cathedral and chapter house from the bishop's garden,
Salisbury. J. Buckler, 1812. Wiltshire Archaeological and Natural History
Museum, Devizes, Wilts. (Photo: Courtauld Institute of Art)

Exterior masonry of the chapter house (a) north bay (b) east bay (Photos: R.
Sargent)

Detail of nineteenth-century Minton tiles, Salisbury chapter house floor
Drawings by J.B. Philip (a) sculptural details, Lichfield cathedral (b) architectural
details, Chester cathedral. University of Glasgow, Art Library, Birnie Philip
Collection, J. B. Philip, Sketchbook, n.d., unpaginated

Original roof bosses in foyer of chapter house with vestiges of thirteenth-century
polychromy and remnants of unrestored foliate designs painted in severies of the

vaults

Drawings of the chapter house roof bosses and painted ornament in the severies of
the vaults. J. Carter, 1802. London, Brit. Lib. Add. MS. 29939, p. 80

Pre-1905 photograph showing deteriorated nineteenth-century polychromy in the
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canons' stalls, west and northwest bays of the chapter house (Photo: National
Monuments Record)

Nineteenth-century chapter house pavement viewed from above (Photo: courtesy
of R.K. Morris, University of Warwick. Neg. W15/58/2A)

The least restored Virtues and Vices who have retained their thirteenth-century
heads. Inner archivolt of the doorway from the foyer into the chapter house (a) left,
number seven, top (b) left, number six (c) left, number four (d) right, number seven,
top (e) right, number five

Genesis page, Chaillot Bible. Paris, Bib. Mazarine MS. 36, fol. 6 (Photo: after
Batut)

Second day of Creation, Aelfric's Hexateuch. London, Brit. Lib. MS. Cotton
Claudius B. IV, fol. 3 (Photo: after Dodwell and Clemoes, 1974)

Third day of Creation (a) Aelfric's Hexateuch. London, Brit. Lib. MS. Cotton
Claudius B. IV, fol. 3 (b) Bible moralisée. Oxford, Bod. Lib. MS 270b (Photos: (a)
after Dodwell and Clemoes, 1974 (b) after Laborde)

Fourth day of Creation, Aelfric's Hexateuch. London, Brit. Lib. MS. Cotton
Claudius B. IV, fol. 4v (Photo: after Dodwell and Clemoes, 1974)

Fifth day of Creation, Aelfric's Hexateuch. London, Brit. Lib. MS. Cotton Claudius
B. IV, fol. 3v (Photo: after Dodwell and Clemoes, 1974)

Naming of the animals, left; Creation of Eve at far right (a) Smyrna, Codex A 1, fol.
9v (b) Seraglio, Codex 8, fol. 42v (Photos: (a) after Hesseling (b) after Uspenskii)

Birth of Achilles, detail of fifth-century mosaic, Nea Paphos, Cyprus (Photo: after
Weitzmann (ed.) 1979)

Creation of Eve and the Injunction, Aelfric's Hexateuch. London, Brit. Lib. MS.
Claudius B. 1V, fol. 6v (Photo: after Dodwell and Clemoes, 1974)

Rest on the Sabbath, Aelfric's Hexateuch. London, Brit. Lib. MS. Cotton Claudius
B. IV, fol. 4v (Photo: after Dodwell and Clemoes, 1974)

Scenes from Adam and Eve cycle. New York, Pierpont Morgan Lib. MS. 638
(formerly known as the Maciejowski Bible) (a) Creation of Eve and the Injunction
(b) Temptation and Fall (¢) Expulsion (d) Labors of Adam and Eve (Photos: after
Cockerell and James)

The Temptation, Bible moralisée. Oxford, Bod. Lib. MS. 270b, fol. 7v (Photo: after
Laborde)
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Detail of the Damned, twelfth-century mosaic of the Last Judgment, west wall,
Torcello cathedral

Hiding in the Garden, Aelfric's Hexateuch. London, Brit. Lib. Cotton MS. Claudius
B. IV, fol. 7v (Photo: after Dodwell and Clemoes, 1974)

Incipit page, Bible of Robert de Bello of Canterbury (1225-1240). London, Brit. Lib.
MS. Burney 3, fol. 5 (Photo: after Rickert)

Abraham entertaining the Angels, mosaic. Rome, Santa Maria Maggiore (Photo:
after Checchelli)

Detail of Labours of Adam and Eve, spandrel I, north bay of chapter house

Labors of Adam and Eve, English Psalter, detail. Paris, Bib. Nat. MS. Lat. 8846,
fol. 1v (Photo: after Omont)

Labors of Adam and Eve, detail, Good Samaritan window, Chartres cathedral
(Photo: courtesy of Virginia Raguin)

Sacrifice of Cain and Abel, with Adam as Christ/Jacob type (center); Hell's mouth
below Cain's offering, Holkham Picture Bible. London, Brit. Lib. Add. MS. 47628,
fol. 5 (Photo: after Hassall, 1954)

Sacrifice of Cain and Abel, capital from the abbey of Moutiers-Saint-Jean,
Cambridge, Fogg Museum of Art

Sacrifice of Cain and Abel, Murthly Hours. Edinburgh, National Library of
Scotland, MS. 21000, fol. 2 (Photo: courtesy of J. Higgitt)

Genesis Page, William de Brailes, illuminator, ca. 1230-1240. Cambridge,
Fitzwilliam Museum, MS. 330 (Photo: after S. Cockerell, 1930)

Murder of Abel, view from the left, spandrel IV, north bay of chapter house

Murder of Abel, Aelfric's Hexateuch. London, Brit. Lib., Cotton MS. Claudius B.
IV, fol. 8v (Photo: after Dodwell and Clemoes, 1974)

Cain and Abel cycle. Oxford, Bod. Lib. MS. Junius xi, p. 49 (Photo: after Gollancz)

Murder of Abel, Murthly Hours. Edinburgh, National Library of Scotland, MS.
21000, fol. 3 (Photo: courtesy of J. Higgitt)

Sentencing of Cain, view from the right, Salisbury chapter house, spandrel V, north
bay

Sentencing of Cain, Aelfric's Hexateuch. London, Brit. Lib. Cotton MS. Claudius
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B. IV, fol. 9r (Photo: after Dodwell and Clemoes, 1974)
Noah's Ark. Oxford, Bod. Lib. MS. Junius xi, p. 66 (Photo: after Gollancz)

(a) Head of Noah, detail of Noah's ark, spandrel VI, north bay (b) Head of Ham,
detail, Drunkenness of Noah, first spandrel, northeast bay, chapter house, Salisbury

Noah building the ark. Cambridge, St. John's College Lib., MS. K 26, fol. 7v
(Photo: Cambridge, The Master and Fellows of St John’s College)

Noah's raven feasting on the carcass of a horse, detail, Noah cycle, mosaic, San
Marco, Venice

Noah tending the vines, Aelfric's Hexateuch. London, Brit. Lib. Cotton MS.
Claudius B. IV, fol. 17 (Photo: after Dodwell and Clemoes, 1974)

The Drunkenness of Noah, Murthly Hours. Edinburgh, National Library of
Scotland, MS. 21000, fol. 4 (Photo: courtesy of J. Higgitt)

Building the tower of Babel, Aelfric's Hexateuch. London, Brit. Lib. Cotton
MS. Claudius B. IV, fol. 19r (Photo: after Dodwell and Clemoes, 1974)

Pre-restoration engraving of Abraham entertaining the three angels, T. Baxter, del.
J. LeKeux sculp. (Photo: after Britton, 1814)

Abraham entertaining the three angels (a) San Vitale, Ravenna, sixth-century
mosaic (b) Murthly Hours, Edinburgh, National Library of Scotland, MS. 21000,
fol. 5 (Photo: courtesy of J. Higgitt)

Destruction of Sodom and Gomorra and Lot's departure with his family (a) Murthly
Hours, Edinburgh, National Library of Scotland, MS. 21000, fol. 6 (b) New York,
Morgan Lib., MS. 638, fol. 3r (Photos: (a) courtesy of J. Higgitt (b) after Cockerell
and James)

Abraham and Isaac on route to the Sacrifice, detail, Aelfric's Hexateuch. London,
Brit. Lib. Cotton MS. Claudius B. IV, fol. 38 (Photo: after Dodwell and Clemoes,
1974)

Sacrifice of Isaac, Vatican gr. 747, fol. 43V (Photo: after Princeton Index of
Christian Art)

Sacrifice of Isaac (a) Salerno ivory antependium, detail (b) Millstatt Genesis,
Klagenfurt, Kidrntner Landesarchiv, fol. 29 (c) I'Histoire Universelle, Vienna,
Nationalbibliothek, cod. 2576, fol. 21 (d) Averbode Evangeliary, detail (Photos: (a)
after Bergman (b) after Gartner (c) Nationalbibliothek, Vienna (d) Liege, Bib.
Universitaire)
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Isaac Blessing Jacob (above); Isaac and Esau (below) Queen Mary's Psalter.
London, Brit. Lib. MS. Roy. 2 B. VII, fol 13v (Photo: after Warner, 1925, pl. 25)

Jacob and Rachel meeting at the well (a) Vatican gr. cod. 747, fol. 50v (b) Millstatt
Genesis, Klagenfurt, Kdrntner Landesarchiv, fol. 38v (Photos: (a) after Princeton
Index of Christian Art (b) after Gartner)

Vatican Lib. MS. gr. 747 (a) The meeting of Laban and Jacob, fol. 51r (b)
Abraham's elder servant Eliezer swearing an oath with his hand on his master's
thigh, fol. 44v (Photos: after Princeton Index of Christian Art)

Jacob and Laban. Pre-restoration engraving of chapter house spandrel, T. Baxter,
del., J. LeKeux, sculp. (Photo: after Britton, 1814)

Pre-restoration drawing of the fourth and fifth canon stalls, east bay, with the
scenes of Jacob and Rachel at the well and Jacob covenanting with Laban, 1848, A.

Salvin, del. London, R.I.B.A., Drawings Collection (Photo: R.I.LB.A.)

Jacob's ladder and Jacob wrestling with the angel, detail of Winchester Psalter.
London, Brit. Lib. MS. Nero C iv, fol. 5 (Photo: after Wormald, 1973)

Joseph departing for Egypt, Queen Mary's Psalter. London, Brit. Lib. Roy. MS. 2 B
vii, fol. 15 (Photo: after Warner)

Drawings of Joseph departing for Egypt: spandrel scene (above), Queen Mary's
Psalter miniature (below). Wm Burges del. (Photo: after Burges, 1859)

Joseph telling his dreams, Murthly Hours. Edinburgh, National Library of
Scotland, MS. 21000, fol. 6 (Photo: courtesy of J. Higgitt)

Joseph thrown into the pit, Murthly Hours. Edinburgh, National Library of
Scotland, MS. 21000, fol. 7 (Photo: courtesy of the National Library of Scotland)

Joseph presented to Pharaoh and pledging fealty, Murthly Hours. Edinburgh
National Library, fol. 8 (Photo: courtesy of J. Higgitt)

Bible moralisée, Oxford, Bod. Lib. MS. 270 b, fol. 23v (Photo: after Laborde)

Brothers showing Joseph's coat to Jacob, Queen Mary's Psalter. London, Brit. Lib.
Roy. MS. 2 B.vii, fol. 15v (Photo: after Warner)

Joseph presented to Pharaoh, Queen Mary's Psalter. London, Brit. Lib. Roy. MS 2
B VII, fol. 15v (Photo: after Warner)

David pledging fealty to Saul. N.Y., Pierpont Morgan Lib. MS. 638, fol. 29, detail
(Photo: after James and Cockerell)
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Pharaoh's queen trying to seduce Joseph, Queen Mary's Psalter. London, Brit. Lib.
MS. Roy. 2 B vii, fol. 16 (Photo: after Warner)

Joseph thrown into prison and incarcerated with the Pharaoh's baker and butler,
Queen Mary's Psalter. London, Brit. Lib. Roy. MS. 2 B vii, fol. 16v (Photo: after
Warner)

Joseph receiving the rod of authority, Queen Mary's Psalter. London, Brit. Lib.
Roy. MS. 2 B vii, fol. 17v (Photo: after Warner)

Joseph throwing chaff into the Nile (left) which Jacob sees from his castle. Queen
Mary's Psalter. London, Brit. Lib. Roy. MS. 2 B vii, fol. 18. (Photo: after Warner)

Joseph's brothers in Egypt: the filling of the sacks with corn; a brother pledges to
return with Benjamin. Pre-restoration engraving of spandrel scene. F. Nash and G.
Cooke (Photo: after Dodsworth, 1814)

Joseph's family kneeling before him. Pre-restoration engravings of the spandrel (a)
by T. Baxter and J. LeKeux (b) by F. Nash and G. Cooke (Photos: (a) after Britton,
1814 (b) after Dodsworth, 1814)

Joseph presenting his father to the Pharaoh, Queen Mary's Psalter. London, Brit.
Lib. Roy. MS. 2 B vii, fol. 19v (b) Vatican grec. 747, fol. 65v (Photo: (a) after
Warner (b) after Princeton Index of Christian Art)

The reunion of Jacob and Joseph (a) Queen Mary's Psalter. London, Brit. Lib. Roy.
MS. 2 B vii, fol. 19 (b) Vatican grec. 747, fol. 65. (Photo: (a) after Warner (b) after
Princeton Index of Christian Art)

The reunion of Jacob and Joseph, Detail of the frontispiece, second roundel from
the right, third row from the bottom, Hebrew Pentateuch. Jerusalem, Salmon
Library (Photo: after Leveen)

Moses receiving the Law (upper left) and Moses with horns on his descent from
mountain, Aelfric's Hexateuch. London, Brit. Lib. Cotton Claudius, MS. B IV, fol.
105v (Photo: after Dodwell and Clemoes, 1974)

Moses with horns as he received the tablets of the Law. London, Brit. Lib., Cotton
Nero MS. C 1V, fol. 4 (Photo: after Wormald)

Moses striking the rock and bringing forth water and Moses and the brazen serpent,
Munich Psalter. Bayerische Staatsbibliothek, Cod. Mon. Lat. 835, fol. 20 (Photo:
after Princeton Index of Christian Art)

The drowning of Pharaoh and his troops. N.Y., Pierpont Morgan Lib. MS. 638, fol.
9 (Photo: after James and Cockerell)
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Lot and his daughters, detail of spandrel XXIV

(a) Joseph's brother pledging to return with Benjamin, detail of spandrel XLIX (b)
brother slitting the throat of the kid, detail of spandrel XXXVII

Surviving heads by the second artist (a) Jacob with Joseph's brothers, detail of

spandrel XXXVI (b) one of Joseph's brothers on route to Egypt, detail of spandrel
LIl

Detail of Abraham entertaining the three angels, spandrel XXII
Virtues and Vices from doorway in the foyer to the chapter house (a) Largitas
subduing Avaritia (b) Caritas subduing Luxuria. Virtues' heads are

nineteenth-century restorations

Angel of the Annunciation, inner portal, chapter house, Westminster abbey (Photo:
after Stone, 1955)

Figure sculpture of the Judgment Porch, south transept, Lincoln cathedral (a)
Ecclesia (b) Synagoga (c) Virtues in the outer order of archivolts

Statues of the 1290s (a) an Apostle, west facade, Salisbury cathedral (b) 'Queen
Eleanor' on the Eleanor Cross, Hardingstone, Northamptonshire, 1291-1293

(a) Creation of Adam, Old Testament cycle, west facade, Wells cathedral (b)
patroness and mason, spandrel carving, east chapel, Worcester cathedral

Ivory statuette of Nicodemus, from a Deposition group, ca. 1250-1260 (formerly
known as the 'Rothschild Prophet'). Paris, Musée du Louvre

Ivory. Scenes of the Passion. The 'Salting leaf', French, ca. 1270-80. London,
Victoria and Albert Museum (Photo: courtesy of Victoria and Albert Museum)

Ivory. Scenes of the Passion, the 'Soissons diptych', French, 1280-1300. London,
Victoria and Albert Museum (Photo: courtesy of Victoria and Albert Museum)

Chapels added on north side of the choir by 1271, Notre-Dame de Paris
Scenes from the life of Christ, choir screen, Le Bourget-du-Lac, Haut Savoie,
1260-1265 (a) Entry into Jerusalem, detail (b) Christ and Mary Magdelene (c)
Joseph, detail of the Adoration (d) Two magi, detail of the Adoration

Tympanum depicting the legend of St. Thomas, Semur-en-Auxois

'Porte Rouge', Notre-Dame de Paris (a) tympanum depicting the Coronation of the
Virgin and archivolts (b) foliate ornament, detail of outermost archivolt
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Tympanum of the north transept portal, Notre-Dame de Paris (Photo: Yale
University, Visual Resources Collection)

Details of relief carvings on the buttress flanking the south transept portal,
Notre-Dame de Paris

(a) Head from the interior west screen, Reims cathedral, now in the archbishop's
palace (b) drawing of head in the Salisbury chapter house, the second from left,
south east bay, Wm Burges. London, R.I.B.A., Drawings Collection, Sketch book,
vol. 43649, no. 30, fol. 68 (Photos: (a) courtesy of Donna Sadler (b) R.1.B.A.)

Two Apostles carved for the Sainte-Chapelle, Paris, 1243-1248. Paris, Musée
National du Moyen Age

Statue of Childebert from the refectory of Saint-Germain-des Prés, Paris, Musée
National du Moyen Age

Details of the lintel zone of the tympanum, 'Portail St Honoré', south transept,
Amiens cathedral

Text Figures for Chapter 2: Molded Profiles

Text figure 1. Profiles of capitals

(a) Westminster abbey, north transept (after 1245)

(b) Salisbury, northeast passageway leading to cloisters from south arm of the main
transept of the cathedral, capital on south wall at junction with east walk (ca.
1247)

(c) Salisbury capital, north walk of cloister, eastern bay (ca. 1270)

(d) Salisbury, chapter house, capital of arcade framing canons' seats, abaci of
foliate capitals: scroll motif and variant

(e) Salisbury, foyer of chapter house, capital of blind arcade, north wall, east bay

(f) Salisbury, foyer of chapter house, north wall, capital of vaulting shaft between
east and west bays

(g) Salisbury, south walk of cloister, bay eight, capital of eastern colonnette (ca.
1276)

(h) Salisbury, south walk of cloister, bay eight, capital of western colonnette (ca.
1290)



Text figure II. Profiles of bases, Salisbury

(a) Northeast passageway leading to cloister from main transept, base of left
exterior jamb of door in south transept arm (ca. 1247)

(b) Northeast passageway to cloister, base of northeast corner colonnette (ca. 1247)

(c) Northeast passageway to cloister, north wall, base of center colonnette (ca.
1247)

(d) Northeast passageway to cloister, north wall, base of second colonnette from
northeast corner

(e) Cloister, north walk, base in east bay (ca. 1270)
(f) Chapter house, east face of inner entrance, trumeau, base of center shaft
(g) Chapter house, east face of inner entrance, base of lateral shaft
(h) Chapter house, east arcade, base of colonnette
(j) Chapter house, base of northeast corner shaft and supporting plinth
(k) Foyer of chapter house, north wall, bases of western bay and of vaulting shaft
between the west and east bays (ca.1290)
Text figure III. Molded arches, Salisbury
(a) Chapter house, arch of inner entrance

(b) Chapter house, northwest arcade, profile of molding between seventh and
eighth arch

(c) Chapter house, profile of arch framing canons' seats

(d) Foyer of chapter house, north wall, east bay, hexafoil at its point of tangency
with arch of blind arcade

(e) Foyer of chapter house, north wall, blind arcade, molding of oculus

(f) Foyer of chapter house, north wall, west bay, hood molding, jamb of door to
stairway



Text figure IV. Salisbury chapter house. Key to drawings of moldings in Text figures
VI-VIII. Drawn by R.K. Morris

Text figure V. Chapter house windows, moldings of octafoil and main arch, Salisbury.
Drawn by R.K. Morris

Text figure VI. Chapter house windows, moldings of quatrefoil, head of lights, arch over
each pair of lights, capitals at springing of vaults and of windows: nos. 806, 810,
830, 831, 832. Drawn by R.K. Morris

Text figure VII. Chapter house, profiles of ribs: main, transverse, and wall ribs, Salisbury.
Drawn by R.K. Morris
Quatrefoil, no. 833
Head of lights, no. 835
Arch over each pair of lights, no. 834
Capitals, nos. 836-839
Text figure VIII: Comparison
(a) Wells, vestibule of chapter house, rib. Drawn by V. Jansen

(b) Wells, bishop's palace. Drawn by V. Jansen

Text figure IX: Comparison
(a) St Mary's, York, molded arch (after Bond)

(b) Lincoln, presbytery, molded arch (after Bond)

Plates

Key to Diagrams

I Creation on the First Day

II The Second Day of Creation
III The Third Day of Creation

v The Fourth Day of Creation



A% The Fifth Day of Creation

VI The Sixth Day of Creation

VII Rest on the Sabbath

VIII The Injunction

IX The Temptation

X The Hiding in the Garden

XI The Expulsion

XII The Labors of Adam and Eve

X1 The Sacrifice of Cain and Abel

XIv The Murder of Abel

XV The Sentencing of Cain

XVI God commands Noah to build the Ark

XVII The Ark Afloat

XVIII Noah in the Vineyard

XIX Drunkenness of Noah

XX The Building of the Tower of Babel

XXI Abraham Offering Hospitality to the Three Angels
XX1II Abraham Entertaining the Three Angels
XXIII The Fall of Sodom and Gomorrah

XXIV Lot's Departure with his Wife and Daughters
XXV Abraham and Isaac on Route to the Sacrifice
XXVI The Sacrifice of Isaac

XXVII Isaac Blessing Jacob

XXVIII Isaac and Esau



XXIX

XXX

XXXI

XXXII

XXXIII

XXXIV

XXXV

XXXVI

XXXVII

XXXVIII

XXXIX

XL

XLI

XLII

XLIII

XLIV

XLV

XLVI

XLVII

XLVIII

XLIX

L

LI

Jacob Leaves for Haran (Padanaram)

The Meeting of Jacob and Rachel at the Well

Jacob Covenanting with Laban for the Hand of Rachel
Jacob Wrestling with the Angel; Jacob's Dream

Angel Touching Jacob's Thigh; Jacob Raising an Altar
The Reconciliation of Jacob and Esau

Joseph's Dreams

Joseph Telling his Dreams to his Family

Joseph Arriving in the Fields; Joseph in the Well, the Brothers bloodying
Joseph's coat

Brothers Selling Joseph into Bondage; Joseph Departing for Egypt
Brothers Showing Joseph's Coat to Jacob

Joseph Pledging Fealty to Pharaoh

Pharaoh's Wife Seducing Joseph

Pharaoh's Wife Denouncing Joseph

Joseph Cast into Prison

The Baker Hanging; the Butler Serving Pharaoh

Pharaoh's Dream

Pharaoh Consulting the Magi

Joseph Released from Prison; Joseph Accepting the Rod of Authority
Joseph Ruling Egypt and Ordering Chaff Thrown into the Nile
Brothers in Egypt to Obtain Grain; The Pledge to Return with Benjamin
Placing of the Silver Cup in Benjamin's sack

Discovery of the Cup in Benjamin's Sack



LII

LIII

LIV

LV

LVI

LVII

LVIII

LIX

LX

LXI

LXII

Joseph Revealing his Identity to his Brothers

Jacob and Family on Route to Egypt

Fulfillment of Joseph's Dreams

Reunion of Joseph and Jacob

Moses and the Burning Bush

Moses Parting the Red Sea Waters

Pharaoh's Troops Drowning

Moses Striking the Rock and Bringing Forth Water

Giving of the Law

Pre-restoration drawings of the first twenty-eight spandrel carvings of the
Old Testament scenes in the blind arcade of the chapter house, Salisbury.
Drawn by J. Carter. London, Brit. Lib. Add. Ms. 29939, p. 73
Pre-restoration drawings of the spandrel carvings of the Old Testament

scenes, continued. Spandrels twenty-nine through fifty-five. London, Brit.
Lib. Add. Ms. 29939, p. 74
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Preface

The octagon at Salisbury ranks among the best examples of English polygonal chapter
houses. Yet because the scholarly literature has treated it mainly as a building patterned on the
better-known chapter house at Westminster, the Salisbury edifice and its sculpture have received
only cursory attention. In the interior, sculptural ornament of the highest quality and interest
abounds. Besides a profusion of foliate capitals often inhabited by fanciful and antic beasts, sixty
exceedingly fine heads act as label stops in the blind arcade that frames fifty-eight seats for the
canons. Most noteworthy of all, sixty Old Testament scenes fill the spandrels formed by the arches
of the arcade.

The chapter house enjoyed daily use until the Reformation. From then on, the building
gradually deteriorated. In the seventeenth century during the Wars of Religion, iconoclasts
mutilated the Old Testament scenes and in the process damaged some of the adjacent heads and
capitals. Inadequate buttressing also contributed to the dereliction of the building. Thereafter the
history of the fabric and ornament was one of neglect and unarrested decay until the complete
restoration of 1855.

New information culled from the cathedral archives, from early prints and drawings, and
from observations made by travelers, antiquarians, topographers, and also from architects from the
seventeenth century forward establish the sorry condition of the building, its figurative and
decorative sculpture, and what remained of its medieval glass on the eve of the restoration. The
chapter appointed the London architect Henry Clutton as architect in charge of the work. In 1854,
knowing that the restoration would forever alter what had survived, Clutton’s partner William
Burges made note of the condition of the spandrel scenes and recorded all extant polychromy

throughout the building. He published his notes in 1859 along with an iconographical analysis of



the sculptural program and a description of the subject in each spandrel.! Well-informed about
medieval art and iconography, he gave valuable council to John Philip Birnie, the sculptor
responsible for restoring the Old Testament scenes. Burges’s article deservedly remains the
authoritative work on the building and its ornament.

Even though much of Burges’s information is quite precise, at times his notes were too
general, lapsing into phrases such as “All heads are gone besides other mutilations.” Because of
that and related uncertainties about what carvings had survived unmodified by the restorers, the
Old Testament scenes have received scant attention in literature concerned with English
thirteenth-century sculpture. Further, no one has attempted to correlate Burges’s pre-restoration
record with the restored carvings. Therefore without exception, critics have mistakenly accepted
the restored scenes as unmodified iconographically.

In scope and depth, every discussion of style has fallen within the limits imposed either by
general surveys of English sculpture or guide books. In 1912, Edwin Prior and Arthur Gardner
published a short but well-considered stylistic analysis of the spandrel carvings that later, briefer
treatments have either depended upon or failed to surpass.? For the most part, comments on style
have not discriminated between restored portions of the figures and unretouched
thirteenth-century carving.

In 1966, I undertook to identify all nineteenth-century carved Caen stone insets and went
on to consider whether those insertions had preserved the original iconography of each scene.?
Knowledge of the characteristics of the Chilmark limestone used in the thirteenth century and that
of the stone for restorations from Caen in Normandy proved essential to the analysis. Equally
important was an understanding of the methods, materials, techniques, and work habits of the
nineteenth-century restorer and his atelier. The analysis provided a sound preliminary study later

expanded to identify all additional repairs made with mastic and mortar, or by sanding and

I Burges 1859, 109-14; 147-62.
2 Prior and Gardner 1912, 255-59, 325.
3 Blum 1968.



re-cutting. Coded diagrams superimposed on photographs of each spandrel contain the results of
that archeological analysis. A well-rewarded search for pre-restoration information, both written
and visual, has verified and refined those conclusions, some of which have appeared in three
published articles.*

The accumulated archeological evidence now permits valid discussions of the style and
iconography of the Old Testament carvings. In the surviving thirteenth-century work, two distinct
styles emerged indicating that two artists, indubitably English, had worked together in the chapter
house. The analysis also revealed the artists’ connections with continental art. Whether through
first-hand knowledge or through familiarity with portable objects, both artists were conversant
with aesthetic ideas expressed in sculptures of Amiens, Reims, and Paris. The Old Testament
scenes at Salisbury emerge as one of the first insular expressions in monumental sculpture based
on stylistic concepts formulated in the Ile-de-France during the fifth decade of the thirteenth
century—a style that did not become truly international until the 1270s.5

As a narrative cycle, the Old Testament scenes also reflect the intellectual climate of
thirteenth-century theologians who showed renewed interest in the historical as opposed to the
typological relationship between the Old and New Testament events. In effect, the Salisbury
scenes lie in the French tradition of the second half of the thirteenth century when narrative
sequences of biblical scenes proliferated in relief sculptures decorating portals and choir screens.
Even so, the imagery in the Salisbury scenes has perpetuated typically English iconographical
elements traceable to Anglo-Saxon biblical illustrations. The continuity of those ideas emerged as
one of the most striking characteristics of the Old Testament cycle. Legendary material from a

Middle English ballad also informed many of the scenes in the lengthy Joseph cycle.® Even though

4 Blum 1969, “The Middle English Romance, ‘lacob and Iosep,” and the Joseph Cycle of the
Salisbury Chapter House ,” Gesta 8, 18-34; eadem, 1991, “The Sequence of the Building
Campaigns at Salisbury, A.B. 73, 6-38; eadem, 1996, “The Sculptures of the Salisbury Chapter
House,” Medieval Art and Archaeology at Salisbury Cathedral,” L. Keen and T. Cocke (eds),
B.A.A. Conference Transactions 17 (Leeds 1996), 68-78, and pls. XIX-XLI.

5 Blum 1996, 68-78.

¢ Blum 1969, 18-34.




predominantly narrative in character, certain scenes include exegetical elements emphasizing
Salvation and Redemption through Christ’s sacrifice. Those interpolations enlarge the meaning of
the cycle as a whole. In the exegesis of the Old Testament scenes, the Douay edition of the Vulgate
has been used for all quotations.

A century and a half has elapsed since Burges made his notes and attempted to reconstruct
the iconography of the sculptural program. Since then, an ever-expanding store of information has
furthered our understanding of medieval thought and its expression in art. Consequently, some of
Burges’s interpretations needed revisions. Further, a comprehensive program has emerged in the
chapter house that informed not only the spandrel carvings, but also the heraldic and figural glass
in the windows, as well as the sculpture on both faces of the inner entrance to the chapter house.
On analysis, the program accords well with the uses of the chapter house and the symbolism
adhering to such buildings.

The Salisbury spandrel carvings are the most extensive and most complete of the four
pre-fourteenth-century Old Testament cycles carved in stone that have survived English
iconoclasm. They embellish a building that Nikolaus Pevsner called one of the finest examples
among English polygonal chapter houses, an architectural group that he considered an English
specialty and one of the happiest achievements throughout the history of English art.” Viewed in
the aggregate, the reconstruction that follows of the Salisbury chapter house as it looked in the
thirteenth century, the elucidation of its imagery, and the history of its damages and repairs
through the centuries reflect in microcosm the history of ideas and attitudes in England from the

late thirteenth century into the middle of the nineteenth century.

7 Pevsner 1955, 93; 1964, 113



The See of Sarum and the Sarum Use

Historical Background

The see of Sarum, or Salisbury, came into existence soon after the Norman conquest. Prior to
that, in 1058, the appointment of Bishop Herman (Hereman) of Ramsbury to the bishopric of
Sherborne had united the two rural se:es.1 A decree of the ecclesiastical council held in London in
1075 designated the precincts of Sarum castle, a strategic military site, as the new episcopal seat for
the combined sees.2 In choosing a military emplacement, the council disregarded its own stipulation
that all sees located in remote villages be re-situated in cities. Dwelling on the physical deficiencies
of the site, the contemporary chronicler, William of Malmesbury, denounced the council's failure to
select an urban location.3 Physical problems such as lack of water and the constant buffeting by
winds sweeping across the Salisbury plain, climaxed in the twelfth century by bitter tensions that
arose between the clerics and the king's castellans, finally forced the cathedral community to relocate
in the thirteenth century in the nearby valley of the Avon

Bishop Herman had lost no time in constructing a church in the outer bailey of Old Sarum,
but he died before its completion. Under his successor, Bishop Osmund (1078-1099), a trusted
councilor of William the Conqueror, the work continued until 1092, the date given by William of
Malmesbury for the dedication of the finished Church.4 A successful administrator, Osmund fostered
excellence by gathering around him canons celebrated for their SChOl@.I'Ship.S

After the conquest, the Norman bishops appointed by King William introduced the

1 For the history of the sees of Ramsbury, Sherborne, and Salisbury, and for a calendar of their bishops and
other dignitaries, see William of Malmesbury, Hamilton (ed.) 1870, 175-83; Jones 1879, passim; and on
the transfer to Old Sarum, ibid., esp. 36-39.

2 William of Malmesbury, Hamilton (ed.), 1870, 67-8, 175-83. The decree of the council ran counter to the
edicts of Damascus, Lyon, Sardis, and Laodicea which forbade episcopal seats in cities.

3 Ibid., 183.

4 Ibid., 183-84. Only five days after the consecration, a savage storm destroyed the tower: William of
Malmesbury, Stubbs (ed.) 1889, 2, 375.

5 William of Malmesbury, Hamilton (ed.), 1870, 184.



continental concept and form of the secular cathedral. In 1090, Thomas of Bayeux, Archbishop of
York, established the first such chapter. In the same year, Bishop Remigius established another
chapter at Lincoln, and within a few months Bishop Osmund founded the third at Sarum in 1091.6
King William Rufus witnessed the foundation charter for the cathedral, known as the Carta
Osmundi. In actuality the document confirmed the already existing chapter of secular canons, but
also provided for their financial independence.7 Until Osmund's charter the clerics had had no
corporate existence in the cathedral and had acted as individuals responsible only to the bishop.
Convened as his council, they had assisted him in conducting services and other affairs of the
cathedral, but had neither received income from the see nor benefited from shares in the wealth of
his estates.

The term canon, when applied to an individual, denoted a relationship to the cathedral
acknowledged by the inclusion of his name on the cathedral role. In its secondary sense, the term
canon denoted a rule or statute. Thus the word canon came to describe not only someone on the list
of clerics attached to the cathedral, but also one who subscribed to rules that assumed his continuous
presence and his performance of functions as set forth in the cathedral's consuetudinary, or
constitution. The continental form of secular cathedrals differed from English customs in that the
canons, clerics, and scholars lived communally, like monks, under a rule that varied from monastic
orders in only a few particulars. It was the canons' right to own property that differentiated secular

.. 8
and monastic foundations, and from that privilege came the term seculares.

Frere 1898, 1, xv.

Freely and in perpetuity, Osmund granted the canons certain manors within the bishopric which he held in
fief from the king. He also granted them half of the offerings presented at the main altar and all of those
received at other altars. The income accruing to the canons was to take two separate forms: the communa,
or common fund, and each canon's individual endowment from his living or prebend. Osmund also made
provisions for the canons' residences by setting aside land for houses and gardens on either side of the
road leading up to the castle gate. For a thirteenth-century copy, the earliest surviving document, see
Frere (ed.) 1898, 1, 257-58; also Jones (ed.), 1883, repr. 1965, 1, 198-200.

8  Writing in the fourteenth century, Magister Hugh Wistinc, a canon of the secular chapter in the cathedral
of Utrecht, protested, 'through a misuse of words we are referred to by the name of seculares, in that we
do not live a secular life, but seculares we are, in that we are able to hold and dispose of property:'
Wistinc, Muller (ed.) 1895, 152-53.



A second document known as the Institutio Osmundi also bears the date of 1091. That

constitution or consuetudinary sets forth the terms by which the Sarum chapter should govern itself.9
Diana Greenway has demonstrated convincingly that the Institutio in the form that we know it was
not drawn up in 1091, but is a compilation achieved in three stages: the 'first in the 1150s, with
additions in the 1160s, and the whole completed around 1200.’10 The document incorporates what by
1150 was believed to have been the constitutional structure formulated by Osmund. Yet not until
1200 did Salisbury fully fit the 1091 'blueprint'. The earliest surviving copy of the consuetudinary,

known as De Officiis Ecclesiasticis Tractatus and dated to ca. 1210, contains those amplifications

.. . ) Rt
and additions made during the twelfth and early thirteenth centuries.

Based on the Norman model, the chapter was to have four principal persons at its head: a
dean, chantor (or precentor), chancellor, and treasurer, followed in rank by four archdeacons
responsible to the bishop, and thirty-two canons--a number that increased in later years. The

o . : : 12
Institutio Osmundi also stipulated the terms of residence for each office. Together the two

For a concise summary of the early history of the see, Edwards 1956a, in V.C.H. 3, 156-61. For a
discussion of the distinguishing characteristics of the English secular cathedral and its body of canons, see
Jones 1879, 186-87, 192-96; and for a general study, Edwards 1967.

9 Frere (ed.) 1898, 1